A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in denying defendant's motion to suppress. 

2. The trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law No.1, 

finding that the investigating officer neither recklessly nor intentionally 

failed to disclose information to the search warrant magistrate. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

1. Whether the attenuation doctrine or the independent source 

doctrine violates Article 1, Section 7 of the Washington State Constitution? 

2. Assuming the attenuation doctrine and the independent source 

doctrine are available to the state to establish probable cause after the 

unlawful entry and search established the presence of marijuana in the Milk 

Barn, whether the search warrant was the unlawful fruit ofthe poison tree? 

3. Whether the search warrant was deficient because there was 

inadequate foundation to show that the investigating officer had sufficient 

expertise to smell the presence of growing marijuana inside a specific 

building among several buildings from a considerable distance away? 

4. Whether the search of the Milk Barn was unlawful under the 

independent source doctrine, which requires the state to show that illegal 

conduct did not prompt the decision to secure a search warrant? 

5. Whether the investigating officer was reckless in (a) failing to 

disclose to the search warrant magistrate that he knew the Milk Barn had 



been the site of a medical marijuana grow operation in the past; (b) 

testifying that the closest alternative source of the odor was a mile farther 

north, when another building was much closer; and (c) failing to disclose 

that he was a considerable distance away (376 feet) from the Milk Barn 

when he detected an odor of growing marijuana coming from inside? 

6. Whether power consumption records held by a privately owned 

but publicly regulated utility are protected by Article 1, Section 7 of the 

Washington State Constitution such that a subpoena signed by a police 

officer is an insufficient basis to acquire them? 

7. Whether the search warrant was defective because law 

enforcement failed to establish that the suspected grow operation was not 

a legal, medical grow operation; and whether Mr. Hovander can raise this 

argument not presented at trial? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal from the decision ofthe Whatcom County 

Superior Court upholding a search of Aron Hovander' s Milk Barn located 

at 5268 Olson Road, in Ferndale, Washington, in which numerous 

growing marijuana plants were discovered. 

Aron Hovander lives at 5206 Olson Road in Ferndale, Washington. 

Mr. Hovander owns property down the street, including a Milk Barn 

located at 5268 Olson Road. 
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This case involves three applications for search warrants. The 

search warrants were authorized on October 12, 2011 and October 13, 

2011. The first two search warrants authorized the search of the Milk 

Barn property, and the third warrant authorized the search of Mr. 

Hovander's adjoining property at 5206 Olson Road, his home. Transcripts 

of the testimony presented in the three search warrants are attached to this 

brief as Appendices, 1,2 and 3. 

Whatcom County Deputy Sheriff Anthony paz is one of the three 

deputies involved in the Crime Interdiction Team, which is an adjunct to 

the Northwest Regional Drug Task Force. VRP April 17,2012, page 84, 

lines 1-12. 

1. The First Search Warrant 

On Friday, October 7, 2011, Whatcom County Deputy Sheriffs Paz 

and Taddonio were situated along Olson Road in Ferndale, Washington. 

They detected the odor of growing marijuana and believed it to be coming 

from the defendant's Milk Barn. Transcript of First Search Warrant 

10112111 search warrant, page 4, top paragraph. 

After dark on Tuesday, October 11, 2011, Deputy Paz returned to 

the same location with Deputy Sheriff Bonsen. From a location along 

Olson Road where there was a break in the tree line, the two deputies 

scaled a fence and walked approximately 376 feet north to the defendant's 
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Milk Barn. VRP April 17, 2012, page 70, line 5. In the process, the two 

officers climbed over two additional fences in order to approach the 

exterior of the Milk Barn. VRP April 17,2012, page 32, line 17-20. 

When the deputies got to the Milk Barn, they were able to confirm the 

odor of growing marijuana coming from vents in the barn. Transcript of 

First Search Warrant 10112111 search warrant, page 5. With this 

information, Deputy Paz applied for and secured the first search warrant. 

But before executing the search warrant, the deputies informed 

Craig Chambers, the lead drug prosecutor, that they had climbed fences 

during the previous night in order to determine that the Milk Barn did 

contain growing marijuana. Mr. Chambers advised the officers to not 

execute the warrant as it stood, but instead to return to the public road and 

to keep sniffing. VRP April 17, 2012, page 33, Line 15 to 25. Mr. 

Chambers remonstrated Deputy Paz about his trespass, and told him not to 

trespass in the future. VRP April 17, 2012, page 57, Line 10-13. 

2. The Second Search Warrant 

Deputy Paz then returned to Olson Road. From the same vantage 

point, at the break in the tree line south of the Milk Barn, Deputy Paz 

waited about 20 minutes. Deputy Paz testified that at that time he was 

again able to smell the odor of growing marijuana. The wind was blowing 
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from the north to the south. Transcript Second Search Warrant 10113111, 

page 3, 4; VRP April 17, 2012, page 44, lines 11-19. 

Based upon this information, Deputy Paz secured a second search 

warrant. In executing the warrant, Deputy Paz and a team of officers first 

stopped at Mr. Hovander's residence at 5206 Olson Road. The officers 

wanted Mr. Hovander present when they searched the Milk Barn Property. 

VRP April 17,2012, page 39, Line 7 to 24. In order to get to Mr. 

Hovander's residence, Deputy Paz and the other officers scaled a chain

locked fence marked with a "No Trespassing" sign. VRP April 17,2012, 

page 37, Line 11 to 25; page 38. After climbing the fence, the officers 

approached Mr. Hovander's residence. Deputy Paz was able to smell the 

odor of growing marijuana coming from inside Mr. Hovander's house. 

Deputy Paz questioned Mr. Hovander about the smell. Mr. Hovander 

responded that he was legally growing medical marijuana and had 30 

plants in the house. VRP April 17, 2012, page 38, 39. Deputy Paz and the 

officers continued on to execute the second warrant. They searched the 

Milk Barn and discovered growing marijuana. 

3. The Third Search Warrant 

Deputy Paz acquired a third search warrant for Mr. Hovander's 

residence. In the third search warrant application, Deputy Paz failed to 

disclose several facts. First, Deputy Paz didn't mention that he and the 
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other officers had scaled the locked gate marked "No Trespassing." 

Second, Deputy Paz failed to disclose that he had walked some distance 

from the locked gate to the Hovander residence, and that only in the 

process of talking with Aron Hovander, who had come out of the house, 

detected the smell of growing marijuana coming from inside. VRP April 

17,2012, page 33, Line 15 to 25, Page 38, lines 13-2l. Third, Deputy Paz 

did not disclose that Mr. Hovander had explained himself to be a medical 

marijuana provider, and that the 30 plants he claimed to have inside the 

house were for medical purposes. VRP April 17, 2012, page 39, lines 7-

25, page 40, lines 1-12. Though Deputy Paz failed to divulge any of this 

information in his testimony for the third search warrant application, his 

written report confirms it, VRP April 17, 2012, page 39, 40, Line 1 to 15. 

Deputy Paz executed the search warrant and discovered growing 

marijuana plants inside Mr. Hovander' s residence. 

4. Summary of The Search Warrants 

The State conceded at the outset that the third search warrant for 

the Hovander residence should be suppressed. VRP April 17, 2012, page 

3 lines 9-14; VRP, page 121, lines 6-8. Mr. Hovander had argued that 

under State v. Ross, 141 Wn. 2d 304, 4 P.3d 130 (2000), Deputy Paz' s 

illegal entry onto Mr. Hovander's property required that Deputy Paz' s 

testimony concerning the marijuana smell coming out ofMr. Hovander's 
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residence should be excised from the search warrant affidavit. Mr. 

Hovander argued that this compelled a complete suppression of the fruits 

of the search of the Hovander residence. 

The State also abandoned any effort to justify the search of the 

Milk Barn based upon information obtained by trespassing officers. The 

State conceded that the search warrants could not be upheld on any 

information acquired by the deputies after they scaled the fence onto the 

Hovander property. VRP April 17, 2012, page 121, lines 6-8. 

5. Review of Suppression Hearings 

The Superior Court convened an evidentiary hearing on April 17-

18, 2012. Several police officers and the defendant testified. 

Mr. Hovander objected to the warrants. First, Mr. Hovander 

objected under the contravention rule of Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 

154,98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978), because Deputy Paz, the 

search warrant affiant, should have disclosed that he knew the Milk Barn 

to be the site of a medical marijuana grow operation, as it had been 

investigated by the Sheriff s Department a year prior. Second, Mr. 

Hovander objected to the warrants under Franks, because Deputy Paz 

recklessly and inaccurately testified that the nearest building to the Milk 

Barn was a house about three quarters of a mile north; actually, another 

building, Mr. Hovander's residence, was only 197 feet to the south of the 
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location where paz was positioned at the time he smelled the odor of 

growing marijuana. Third, Mr. Hovander objected to the warrants under 

Franks because Deputy Paz failed to testify that he was a considerable 

distance away (376 feet) from the Milk Barn when he detected an odor of 

growing marijuana coming from inside. See Declaration of Aron 

Hovander, CP 62-66; VRP April 17,2012 page 70, lines 1-16. 

The court entered written findings denying the motion to suppress. 

A copy of the Superior Court findings is attached to this brief as Appendix 

4. First, the court found that Deputy Paz withheld no relevant 

information, because whether Mr. Hovander's property was the site of a 

medical marijuana grow operation was not relevant under State v. Fry, 168 

Wn. 2d 1,228 P.3d 1 (2010). Second, the court found that there was no 

harm in Deputy Paz's failure to disclose a possible alternative source of 

the marijuana smell. Deputy Paz had testified that the closest alternative 

source of the marijuana smell was three quarters ofa mile to the North of 

where he stood; Hovander's residence was only 197 feet away from where 

he stood. The court reasoned that there was no need for Deputy Paz to 

disclose this fact because at the time the wind was blowing from the North 

to the South, so the odor must have been coming from the North. VRP 

April 17,2012, page 70, 12-15. Third, the court found that Deputy Paz's 

expertise in detecting the odor of growing marijuana was adequate to 
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support his conclusion that the Milk Barn was the source of the odor, even 

though he was standing a considerable distance - more than a football 

field away - from the Milk Barn when he detected the odor. VRP April 

17, 2012, page 136, line 11; page 137, lines 6-23. Mr. Hovander argued 

that Deputy Paz lacked the expertise to identify the odor of marijuana 

from such a distance, and that regardless, his expertise did not give him 

the capacity to identify one specific structure among several as the source 

of the odor. Mr. Hovander also argued that Deputy Paz failed to provide 

to the magistrate the necessary information because he did not mention the 

presence and location of other buildings in the area. Mr. Hovander filed a 

declaration setting out a fuller description of the many houses and 

buildings in the area, and testified at the suppression hearing to the same 

effect. CP 62-66, Declaration of Aron Hovander. 

6. Deputy Paz's Testimony At The Suppression Hearing 

Deputy Paz's testimony before Judge Mura at the suppression 

hearing on April 17-18, 2012 was different from the testimony he gave to 

secure the search warrants to search Mr. Hovander's Milk Barn. 

To secure the first search warrant for the Milk Bam, Deputy Paz 

testified to the search warrant magistrate that he had been at a location 

along Olson Road on October 7, 2011, but gave no details. 10112111 at 

3:30 pm Search Warrant Application, page 5. Deputy Paz returned to 
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Olson Road on Tuesday, October 11, 2011 to check again for the odor of 

marijuana. His vantage point was then a break in the tree line along Olson 

Road, 376 feet south of the Milk Barn. 

The next day, to secure the second search warrant for the Milk 

Barn, Deputy Paz testified to the search warrant magistrate that he had on 

two occasions detected the odor of growing marijuana in the vicinity of 

Mr. Hovander's property, and that he attributed the odor to the Milk Barn: 

The first occasion was last Friday and it was from exact 
same spot that I could smell it from last night. That was at 
nighttime, and the wind was blowing in the same direction 
from north to south. That was when Deputy Taddonio was 
with me. And then on this past Tuesday night, again in the 
same location on Olson Road, we could smell it again, and 
then last night. 

Search Warrant Application 10/13/11 at 11 :45 am. 

In this statement to the search warrant magistrate, Deputy Paz 

confirmed that he had detected the odor of growing marijuana multiple 

times from the same vantage point - a break in the tree line along Olson 

Road to the south of the Milk Barn. 

However, at the suppression hearing six months later, Deputy Paz 

had a different recollection as to where he stood on the night of Friday, 

October 7, 2011. In front of Judge Mura, Deputy Paz testified that on that 

night, he smelled marijuana when he stepped out of his vehicle on Olson 

Road near the driveway leading east to the Milk Barn. To Judge Mura, 
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Deputy Paz testified that he was on duty and driving a marked patrol unit. 

He testified that the wind was blowing from east to west and the Milk 

Barn and other buildings on the defendant's property were located to the 

east of his position. See Findings 1, VRP page 52, lines 8-11; page 58, 

lines 7-10. But Deputy Paz also testified that the wind was blowing from 

the west. See VRP page 61 , lines 22-24. The Superior Court adopted as a 

finding that the wind was blowing from the east to west; Findings 1, line 

35-37. But in his oral opinion upon which the findings are based, Judge 

Mura stated that the wind was blowing from the west, see VRP page 138, 

lines 8, lines 22-24. 

At the conclusion of the suppression hearing, Judge Mura again 

questioned Deputy Paz. He provided Deputy Paz with a copy of the 

second search warrant application, in which Deputy Paz testified that each 

time he smelled marijuana it was from the "exact same spot." Judge Mura 

asked Deputy Paz to clarify the disparate testimony he had provided in the 

second application for a search warrant, and the testimony he had just 

given before the Superior Court. Deputy Paz again testified that on 

Friday, October 7, 2011 , he was at the intersection of Olson Road and the 

driveway leading east to the Milk Barn. He testified that on October 11, 

and October 12, 2011 , he was in a different location, at the break in the 

tree line along Olson Road; see VRP page 96, lines 19-23. 

11 



Deputy Paz's explanation was that it was "maybe a mistake in the 

transcript." VRP page 99, lines 7-21. 

The audiotapes of the testimony Deputy Paz gave before the search 

warrant magistrate have been included in the record. CP 86-99. The 

tapes confirm that no mistake was made in the transcription, and as a 

result, Deputy Paz's testimony at the suppression hearing as to where he 

was when he smelled marijuana on October 7, 2011 is inconsistent with 

his testimony before the search warrant magistrate. 

7. Judge Mura's Findings 

At the conclusion of the suppression hearing, the court entered 

Findings which have been attached to this brief as Appendix 4. Finding of 

Fact, No. 1 provides: 

On October 7, 2011 Deputy Paz was on Olson Road at the 
end of the driveway leading to the defendant's milking 
parlor at 5968 Olson Road. The wind was blowing from 
east to west and the milking parlor and other buildings on 
defendant's property were located to the east of his 
position. Deputy Taddonnio was also in the immediate 
area and detected the odor of growing marijuana. The 
detection of the odor on this occasion, by itself, would not 
have provided probable cause for the search of the milking 
parlor because of the other buildings located upwind of the 
deputy's location. When Deputy Paz provided information 
in support of the search on October 13, 2011 concerning 
these events, the court finds that he misspoke as to his 
location and is satisfied that the odor was detected at the 
entrance to the milking parlor driveway on Olson Road. 
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In Finding of Fact 1, the court reformed the second search warrant 

application. The court replaced the testimony that Deputy Paz provided to 

the search warrant magistrate as to his location on October 7, 2011, with 

Deputy Paz's in-court testimony given at the suppression hearing six 

months later. 

That Judge Mura decided to replace and improve this testimony 

was critical to the resolution of the issue of suppression. This is made 

clear in Finding of Fact 4, which provides: 

This is a rural area and the likely source of growing 
marijuana odor can be isolated by triangulating the wind 
direction and location of the deputy at the times the odor 
was detected from the Olson Road public right of way. The 
location where the deputy detected the odor on October 7 
and 12'\ given the wind direction at each time, satisfies the 
court that the deputy's identification of the milking parlor 
was its source was both reasonable and reliable. The 
smelling standing alone from one location would not justify 
a warrant but the combined smell from different locations 
did. 

Finding of Fact 4, emphasis added 

Finding of Fact 4 demonstrates that the search warrant would not 

have survived had Deputy Paz only been standing in one location, which 

is what his search warrant testimony provides. 

8. Motion for Reconsideration 

On June 12,2012, Mr. Hovander moved for reconsideration. First, 

Mr. Hovander argued that in reviewing the sufficiency of probable cause, 
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the court was limited to looking within the four comers of the search 

warrant. Mr. Hovander argued that the court erred when it considered 

Deputy Paz's testimony at the suppression hearing, because this testimony 

directly contradicted the testimony Deputy Paz gave in front of the search 

warrant magistrate. Thus the court went outside of the four corners. 

Second, Mr. Hovander argued that the court's own Finding of Fact 

4 established that a single reference point alone was insufficient to justify 

the warrant. VRP June 12, 2012, page 6, 13 to 25. Mr. Hovander argued 

that when reviewing the evidence as presented within the search warrant's 

four corners, Deputy Paz only established one reference point - the break 

in the tree line along Olson Road. 

The court denied the motion for reconsideration: 

Bottom line really is this. If Judge Grant had been given all 
of the information available at least to this court at the time 
of the evidentiary hearing, I think a reasonable magistrate 
would have inquired further before issuing the warrant. 
Had the magistrate inquired further before issuing the 
warrant, and all of the additional facts had come up, the 
warrant would have been issued. That is the bottom line. 
The information given to the magistrate at the time was 
incomplete as far as all the available facts. But had it been 
complete, the warrant would have issued. That's really how 
I see it. 
So I think I feel compelled-because within the four 
corners of the warrant, just looking at that without having 
knowledge of all these additional facts, I can't say that 
based upon what the magistrate had that the warrant was 
invalid and the hearing was to develop all of the facts to 
determine if there were false or misleading statements 
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being made to the magistrate and I just didn't find any 
under the facts of the case. 

So I hope I don' t get reversed months but won' t be around 
to see it. Really I feel under the law, Mr. Johnston, I feel 
compelled to deny the motion to reconsider. But it will be a 
fun one for the Court of Appeals to hear. VRP June 12, 
2012 pages 16, lines 8-25; page 17, lines 1-7. 

D. ARGUMENT 

At the outset of the case, the State conceded that evidence obtained 

by the third search warrant was inadmissible. In addition, the State 

conceded that any information acquired after the trespass by Deputy Paz 

and Deputy Bonsen should also be excluded. So for the purpose of 

analyzing the validity of the three search warrants, this Court should 

consider only the testimony as presented in the first two applications. And 

this court should not consider any of the information acquired by Deputy 

Paz and Bonsen after they scaled the fence on October 11 , 2011 . 

1. If The Attenuation Doctrine And The Independent Source 
Doctrine Violate Article 1, Section 7 Of The Washington State 
Constitution, Then The Search Warrants Collapse. 

The first issue pertaining to Mr. Hovander' s assignment of errors is 

whether Article 1, Section 7 of the Washington State Constitution

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