No. 69357-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

vs.

ARON CLARK HOVANDER, Appellant.

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DAVID S. McEACHRAN,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By KIMBERLY THULIN
Appellate Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #21210 / Admin. No. 91075

Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784

#

# A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Whether the trial court abused its discretion denying Hovander's motion to suppress a search warrant for a milk parlor on his property predicated on probable cause.
  - a. Whether the search warrant application and addendum demonstrates Deputy Paz had sufficient training and experience and was at a location where, based on wind direction and location, that the court could rely on the deputy's determination that he could detect the odor of a marijuana grow operation coming from the milk parlor.
  - b. Whether the trial court erred determining the evidence obtained pursuant to the search warrant of the milk parlor was admissible pursuant to the independent source doctrine.
  - c. Whether the trial court erred denying Hovander's motion to suppress the electrical records related to the milk parlor where such evidence is not subject to RCW 46.52.330 because PSE is a private, not public utility.
  - d. Whether this Court should review Hovander's new argument raised for the first time on appeal asserting that, pursuant to the 2011 Amendment to RCW 69.51A.040 and <u>U.S. v. Kynaston</u>, the State has the burden in a probable cause determination for a search warrant, to show the target is an illegal grow operation and not an authorized medical marijuana operation.
- Whether the court erred concluding Deputy Paz did not intentionally or recklessly misstate or omit facts material to the search warrant application and addendum based on the unchallenged findings below.

### 1. Substantive facts

On October 7<sup>th</sup> 2011, Deputy Paz of the Whatcom County

Sherriff's office detected the odor of marijuana coming from a building,
later identified as a milk parlor at 5968 Olson Road. CP 138-142,138-142,

FF 1. The wind was blowing from east to west and the milking parlor. CP

138 FF 1. On the same day, around the same location on Olson Road but
at a separate time than Deputy Paz, Deputy Taddonio detected an odor of
marijuana. Id., FF 1, VRP 49 (April 17<sup>th</sup> suppression hearing transcript.)

On October 11<sup>th</sup> Deputy Paz returned to Olson road, saw the driveway to the milk barn was open and walked towards it to investigate the odor. Br. of App. App 1, pp 3. After noticing infrared cameras at the milk parlor driveway however, Deputy Paz went around the tree line, crossed two fences and approached the milk parlor building to investigate. CP 138-142, FF 2. Deputy Paz erroneously thought it was ok to walk the tree line instead of staying on the curtilage of the milk parlor building to investigate the marijuana grow odor he had detected. VRP 46. (4/17 suppression hearing transcript). Based on this information and the odor detection from October 7<sup>th</sup> 2011, Deputy Paz sought authorization to search the milk parlor and attached office. Br. of App. Appendix 1.

Prior to execution of this warrant however, on the advice of law enforcement's counsel, Paz was directed to go back to the public right away on Olson road to determine what if anything he could smell or discern from the roadway regarding a marijuana grow operation suspected to be in the milk parlor. VRP 33 (4/17 suppression transcript).

On October 12<sup>th</sup>, 2011 Deputy Paz returned to the 5200 block of Olson Road on the advice of counsel. Id. Paz stood in a break in the tree line south of the milk parlor driveway on the public roadway (Olson) and again detected an obvious odor of growing marijuana. CP 138, FF 3. The wind was blowing from north to south. Id. The milk parlor and attached barns on the Hovander farm were the closest building in the direction the wind was blowing to Deputy Paz's position 376 feet away. Id. Paz could see through the open barn buildings and determined the odor was emanating from the milk parlor and attached office. Br. of App. App 2, pp 2-3 (addendum to first search warrant application for Hovander farm on 10/13/11 at 11:45 a.m.)<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hovander attached three appendices-transcripts of the search warrant applications. The first and second transcripts (initial application and addendum) pertain to one search warrant-the search warrant for the Hovander milk parlor at 6958 Olson Road. Appendix 2 however, erroneously states the addendum to the milk parlor search warrant was made at 11:45 p.m.. A review of the actual search warrant tapes and suppression motion demonstrates this application was made at 11:45 a.m. There are other minor discrepancies in the transcription-thus, a quick review of the actual tapes of the warrant application may

Deputy Paz thereafter provided this additional information and the electrical records for the milking parlor buildings –that showed consumption of ten times the average amount –to the magistrate requesting to make an addendum to the first warrant application for the search of the Hovander milk parlor. See, Br. of App. Appendix 2. The magistrate, after listening to this additional information, re-authorized a search warrant for the milk parlor. Br. of App. Appendix 2. Following execution of the search warrant on the Hovander milk parlor, deputies discovered a large scale marijuana growing operation in four rooms. Id. There were over five hundred marijuana plants under cultivation at various stages of development-a certified technician tested and confirmed they were marijuana plants. CP 184-186 (findings of fact conclusions of law re guilt) FF 1.

The second warrant application-made after the Sheriff's office executed the search warrant of the milk parlor was for the Hovander residence at 5608 Olson Road is not the subject of this appeal-though it is referenced by Hovander throughout his brief. See, Br. of App. Appendix 3-warrant application for Hovander residence.

be warranted and helpful. The third search warrant transcript pertaining to the Hovander residence is not the subject of this appeal.

Following the execution of the search warrants, Hovander was initially charged with one count of unlawful manufacturing of a controlled substance. Supp CP \_\_\_ (sub nom 10). On November 29<sup>th</sup> 2011, the State amended the information to charge Hovander with two counts of unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver, two counts of unlawful manufacturing of a controlled substance and two counts of maintaining a dwelling for drug purposes. Supp CP 17.

Hovander thereafter filed a motion to suppress both warrants and a contravention motion. CP 4, 5, 43-59. Prior to the suppression hearing, the State conceded suppression of the second search warrant pertaining to the search of the Hovander residence was appropriate. VRP 3 (8/13/11 hearing transcript). A suppression hearing pertaining only to the search warrant authorizing a search of the milk parlor and Hovander's farm on Olson road proceeded.

Hovander challenged the milk parlor warrant maintaining that if the information pertaining to the trespass was eliminated, the remaining warrant application was insufficient to establish probable cause. CP 124-131, 6-42, 43-59. Alternatively, even if probable cause, Hovander argued the search warrant violated the independent source doctrine pursuant to article 1, section 7 of the Washington State constitution. Id. Hovander also asserted a Franks hearing was warranted because Deputy Paz should have advised the magistrate he was 476 feet away from the milk parlor when he detected the marijuana grow odor, for allegedly misstating where the closest building was when he detected the odor when that there was another home, the Hovander residence nearby. Id.

After taking testimony, hearing argument and considering the parties submissions, the trial court denied Hovander's motion to suppress evidence found pursuant to the first search warrant pertaining to the milk parlor. CP 138-142. Specifically, the trial court concluded, after excluding the information initially provided to support the milk parlor search warrant obtained by entering the Hovander farm property, there remained sufficient probable cause to justify the search warrant for the milk parlor. CP 138-142, conclusion 2. The court also determined the evidence obtained to support the warrant was obtained independently from the illegality when Deputy Paz entered the Hovander property and approached the milk parlor without legal authorization and therefore did not violate the independent source doctrine. Id, conclusion 3. Moreover, the trial court determined the evidence did not demonstrate the obvious odor of marijuana was coming from the Hovander residence but was emanating from the milk parlor. Id. The court also determined the independent

information from the power records, fact of surveillance cameras and detection of the odor of growing marijuana on multiple occasions from multiple locations, by multiple deputies would have influenced Deputy Paz to continue his investigation and seek search warrants, even if he had not crossed the Hovander property line and fences on October 11<sup>th</sup> 2011. Id, FF 7.

The trial court also determined a Franks hearing was unwarranted. Id. The court concluded Deputy Paz was neither reckless nor made intentional omissions of material facts by failing to advise the issuing magistrate that he believed (the deputies belief was later determined to be incorrect) there previously was a medical marijuana investigation in 2010 regarding the Hovander milk parlor. At the suppression hearing, Deputy Paz testified that in in October 2010 Deputy Roosma and Deputy Walker investigated a medical marijuana growing operation at 5608 Olson Road, the Hovander residence, after an individual disclosed he was being provided medical marijuana by Hovander. CP 138-142, FF 5. When contacted, Hovander provided his permit to grow medical marijuana but declined to permit deputies to search his residence. Id. A search warrant was not sought. CP 138-142, FF 5. Deputy Paz was remotely aware of this incident during his 2011 investigation, spoke with Deputy Walker to

try to obtain more specific information but Walker could not provide much information and he could only find a brief report about the incident in the Sheriff's office data base. Id. Deputy Paz mistakenly believed this incident involved a growing operation in the milking parlor-when in fact the medical marijuana investigation involved the Hovander residence.

Thus, if Paz had provided the limited information he thought he knew, it would have been inaccurate. Id.

The court finally concluded, after finding that PSE is a private electric utility that provides power the Hovander property, that it was unnecessary for investigating officers to comply with statutory procedures pertaining to public or municipal electrical companies to obtain the electrical power records for 5268 Olson Road. CP conclusion of law 4.

Thereafter, Hovander filed a motion for reconsideration. CP 143.

On reconsideration, the trial court explained, to the extent it considered matters outside the four corners of the search warrant, the court was determining whether there were material reckless or intentional omissions for purposes of determining if a Franks hearing was warranted. VRP 16 (June 12 2012). Hovander thereafter filed multiple additional motions for reconsideration, including arguing that pursuant to a decision for the Eastern District of Washington, <u>U.S. v. Kynaston</u>, CR-12-0016-WFN,

Deputy Paz was obliged to inform the magistrate of the limited information, later determined to be erroneous, that the milk barn had been the subject of a medical marijuana investigation in 2010. CP 136, 143, 144, 164, 165. The trial court denied this final motion for suppression.

VRP 14 (September 20th 2011 transcript)

After electing to proceed with a stipulated bench trial following the failed suppression motions, Hovander was found guilty of one count of unlawful manufacturing of a controlled substance, marijuana pursuant to RCW 69.50.401. CP 187-94. Hovander timely appeals. CP 195-204.

Hovander does not assign error to the trial court's findings of fact, therefore they-as opposed to Hovander's lengthy recitation of the facts, are verities for purposes of evaluating the issues raised on appeal. State v. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d 738, 745, 64 P.3d 594 (2003).

#### B. ARGUMENT

 The trial court did not abuse its discretion upholding the validity of the search warrant.

Hovander asserts the trial court erred denying his motion to suppress evidence obtained pursuant to a search warrant of a milk parlor on his farm at 5869 Olson road. Br. of App. at 1. Specifically, Hovander argues the search warrant application was insufficient to establish probable cause because law enforcement failed to establish that the suspected grow

operation was not a legal medical grow operation, because the evidence supporting the issuance of the warrant was not sufficiently independently obtained from the information gleaned when the deputy entered onto the Hovander farm property, and because the search warrant application provided inadequate foundation to show Deputy Paz had sufficient training and experience to smell growing marijuana from the milk parlor while standing on the public roadway next to the farm where the milk parlor was located.Br. of App. at 1, see also for reference, Supp CP \_\_(def. exhibit 2).

This Court reviews search warrants and the finding of probable cause for an abuse of discretion. State v. Chenoweth, 160 Wn.2d 454, 477, 158 P.3d 595 (2007). A search warrant is entitled to a presumption of validity and great deference is given to the issuing magistrate's determination of probable cause. Id. Appellate court's generally resolve doubts concerning the existence of probable cause in favor of the validity of the search warrant. Id. Material misstatements or omissions will invalidate a search warrant only when made recklessly or intentionally. Chenoweth at 484. A trial court's conclusion that the affiant did not recklessly omit material facts in obtaining a search warrant will be upheld where such determination is not clearly erroneous. Id.

Hovander does not challenge the trial court's findings of facts.

Therefore, the trial court's findings are verities on appeal. State v. Acrey,

148 Wn.2d 738, 745, 64 P.3d 594 (2003). The trial court's contested

conclusions of law stemming from a suppression hearing are reviewed de

novo on appeal. State v. Carter, 151 Wn.2d 118, 125, 85 P.3d 887 (2004).

A search warrant may be issued only upon a determination of probable cause. State v. Atchley, 142 Wn.App. 147, 161, 173 P.3d 323 (2007), (citing State v. Cole, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995). Probable cause exists where there are facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is involved in criminal activity and that evidence of such criminal activity can be found at the place sought to be searched. Id at 161, citing State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999).

To establish probable cause for a search warrant, the application for a search warrant "must set forth sufficient facts to lead a reasonable person to conclude there is a probability that the defendant or place is involved in criminal activity." State v. Atchley, 142 Wn.App. at 161, quoting State v. Cord, 103 Wn.2d 361, 365-66, 693 P.2d 81 (1985). Probable cause requires only a probability of criminal activity. State v. Maddoz, 152 Wn.2d 499, 505, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004). When determining

probable cause, the magistrate makes a practical, common sense decision and is entitled to draw reasonable inferences from all of the facts and circumstances described in the application. Id at 505.

The issuance of a search warrant is reviewed on appeal for abuse of discretion, with great deference on appeal with any doubts resolved in favor of the warrant's validity. State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002), State v. J.R. Distributors, 111 Wn.2d 764, 774, 765 P.2d 281 (1988). When reviewing the validity of a search warrant, the reviewing court considers only the information that was brought to the attention of the issuing magistrate at the time the warrant was requested. State v Murray, 110 Wn.2d 706, 707, 757 P.2d 487 (1988). The facts and circumstances described to the magistrate in the first warrant application and the addendum, independent from the information obtained when Deputy Paz went onto the Hovander farm property later redacted, sufficiently supports the magistrate's authorization of a search warrant. See, Supp CP \_\_ (sub nom 69, plaintiff's exhibit 1).